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COUNTER-STATEMENT OF PROCEDURAL HISTORY1 

 On February 4, 2021, a Union County Grand Jury returned Indictment 

No. 21-02-00031, charging defendant-appellant Charles E. Leach with first-

degree murder, in violation of N.J.S.A. 2C:11-3(a)(1) (count one); second-

degree possession of a weapon (firearm) for an unlawful purpose, in violation 

of N.J.S.A. 2C:39-4(a)(1) (count two); and second-degree unlawful possession 

of a weapon (handgun), in violation of N.J.S.A. 2C:39-5(b)(1) (count four).2  

(Da1 to 3).  A Union County Grand Jury also returned Indictment No.  

21-02-00032, charging defendant with second-degree certain person not to 

have a weapon, in violation of N.J.S.A. 2C:39-7(b)(1).  (Da4).   

                                           
1 Da refers to defendant’s appendix on appeal.  
  Pa refers to the State’s appendix on appeal.  
  1T refers to the trial transcript, dated January 18, 2023. 

  2T refers to the trial transcript, dated January 19, 2023. (Vol. 1). 

  3T refers to the trial transcript, dated January 19, 2023. (Vol. 2).   

  4T refers to the trial transcript, dated January 20, 2023.  

  5T refers to the trial transcript, dated January 24, 2023.  

  6T refers to the trial transcript, dated January 25, 2023.  

  7T refers to the trial transcript, dated January 26, 2023. 

  8T refers to the trial transcript, dated January 27, 2023.  

  9T refers to the trial transcript, dated January 31, 2023. 

  10T refers to the trial transcript, dated February 1, 2023. 

  11T refers to the sentencing transcript, dated March 21, 2023. (Defendant) 

  12T refers to the sentencing transcript, dated March 21, 2023. (Co-defendant) 

  13T refers to the trial transcript, dated February 1, 2023. (p.m. session). 
2 Co-defendant Bashir Pearson was charged in counts one, three, and five of 

the indictment.  (Da1 to 3).   
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 From January 18, 2023 through February 1, 2023, defendant and co-

defendant appeared before the Honorable Thomas K. Isenhour, J.S.C., and a 

jury, for a joint trial.  (1T to 10T).  On February 1, 2023, the jury found 

defendant guilty as charged on all counts.  (Da5 to 6; 10T26-18 to 28-13).   

 On March 21, 2023, defendant appeared before Judge Isenhour for 

sentencing.  (11T).  As to Indictment No. 21-02-00031, the judge merged 

counts two and four into count one and sentenced defendant to sixty years in 

prison, with an eighty-five percent period of parole ineligibility pursuant to the 

No Early Release Act (NERA), followed by five years of parole supervision.  

(Da7; 11T25-23 to 26-2; 11T27-5 to 12).  As to the certain persons conviction 

in Indictment No. 21-02-00032, the judge sentenced defendant to a term of ten 

years in prison, with a five-year period of parole ineligibility, followed by 

three years of parole supervision.  (Da10; 11T26-16 to 22).  The judge ordered 

the sentence in Indictment No. 21-02-00032 to run concurrently to Indictment 

No. 21-02-00031.  (Da11 to 12; 11T27-25 to 28-6).  The court also imposed 

the appropriate fines and penalties for each offense.  (Da8 to 12).   

 On April 27, 2023, defendant filed a Notice of Appeal.  An amended 

Notice of Appeal subsequently was filed on May 11, 2023.  (Da13 to 17).  This 

appeal follows.  
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COUNTER-STATEMENT OF FACTS 

On January 22, 2020, defendant and co-defendant Pearson murdered the 

victim, Tyshun Kearney, by shooting him multiple times.  That evening, 

between 6:30 p.m. and 7:00 p.m., Jerry Williams was working at the Jackson 

Avenue barbershop, located at 421 Jackson Avenue, in Elizabeth, New Jersey.  

(2T26-8 to 14; 2T28-5 to 6; 2T29-10 to 16).  There were four or five people 

inside the shop: Ibn, Jerry, the victim Tyshun Kearney, Mr. Williams, and 

another customer.  (2T29-17 to 30-9).  They suddenly heard a loud noise “right 

out the front door,” at which time the victim, Mr. Kearney, looked outside and 

exited the barbershop.  (2T31-20 to 32-2).  Five or ten seconds later, Mr. 

Williams heard five gunshots; some were “very loud noises” and others were 

“low noises.”  (2T32-3 to 12). 

 Mr. Williams ran for cover and ran into the closet that was in the back of 

the barbershop.  (2T35-10 to 15).  Ibn went into the bathroom, while Jerry 

“was just scrambling around,” ultimately choosing to brace himself behind the 

door.  (2T35-16 to 20).  Eventually, Mr. Williams exited the closet and went to 

check on Jerry.  (2T35-21 to 36-1).  As he did, Mr. Williams heard a banging 

on the door and when he asked, “who is it,” Mr. Kearney said, “it was me.”  

(2T36-1 to 5).  Jerry opened the door and Mr. Kearney walked in.  (2T36-5).  

Mr. Kearney took four or five steps, walking approximately ten feet, and then 
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collapsed.  (2T36-6 to 8).  Mr. Williams immediately picked up the phone and 

called 9-1-1.  (2T36-9 to 14).  He then tried to talk to Mr. Kearney, who was 

mumbling something; when Mr. Williams turned Mr. Kearney over, Mr. 

Williams saw dark, red blood.  (2T36-11 to 19).   

Union County Sherriff’s Officers Richard Brattole, Elizabeth Police 

Officer Kutsyy, and Detective Heller quickly arrived and began to render aid.  

(2T39-13 to 19; 2T175-6 to 9; 2T176-10 to 18; 2T177-9 to 178-18).  They 

rolled Mr. Kearney over, used shears to cut off his shirt and attempted to find 

any bullet wounds.  (2T179-4 to 9).  They observed a chest wound in Mr. 

Kearney’s left upper chest area below his shoulder, and attempted to apply a 

chest seal.  (2T179-14 to 180-4). 

At 6:56 p.m., Albert Cosaj, an Emergency Medical Technician with the 

Elizabeth Fire Department, was dispatched to the scene.  (2T164-16 to 19; 

2T165-21 to 25; 2T167-13 to 20; 2T168-4 to 6).  Upon his arrival, he located 

Mr. Kearney, who had sustained a gunshot wound to his left shoulder, right 

side/back, lower abdomen, left knee, and right knee.  (2T169-9 to 24; 2T170-9 

to 18).  Mr. Cosaj’s supervisor indicated that Mr. Kearney had a pulse, so Mr. 

Cosaj moved Mr. Kearney onto a stretcher and brought him to the ambulance 

for further assessment.  (2T170-2 to 8).  In the ambulance, Mr. Kearney 

became pulseless and was not breathing, so Mr. Cosaj initiated chest 
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compressions and started CPR.  (2T171-7 to 21).  Mr. Kearney was then 

transported to Trinitas Hospital.  (2T171-3 to 6).  CPR was continued all the 

way to the hospital.  (2T171-24 to 172-2). 

Union County Prosecutor’s Office Detective Sonia Rodriguez responded 

to Trinitas Hospital and was advised that Mr. Kearney was pronounced dead 

by Dr. Hague at 7:19 p.m.  (5T55-12 to 16; 5T57-10 to 59-5).   Detective 

Rodriguez then collected a projectile that was found in the body, and Mr. 

Kearney’s wallet, sneakers, jogging pants, sweatshirt, and some other clothing 

articles.  (5T58-14 to 21).  She then brought the items back to the Union 

County Prosecutor’s Office and secured them in the vault.  (5T59-12 to 21).   

On January 23, 2020, Dr. Junaid Shaikh, an expert in the field of 

forensic pathology and autopsies, conducted the autopsy on Mr. Kearney.  

(6T128-9 to 129-3).  Dr Shaikh identified five gunshot wounds.  (6T135-3 to 

145-3).  Wound number one was located on the chest region below the collar 

bone and perforated the pulmonary arteries.  (6T135-3 to 7; 6T136-20 to 137-

8).  Inside the wound, Dr. Shaikh recovered a projectile.  (6T137-14 to 21).  

Wound number two was located in the left upper part of the arm and exited the 

left upper scapula region.  (6T138-3 to 9).  Wound number three was located 

below the second exit wound, the left lower region of the victim’s torso.  

(6T141-18 to 142-4).  Dr. Shaikh was able to recover a projectile from the 
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wound, located in the dorsal muscle.  (6T141-24 to 142-4).  Wound number 

four was located in the abdominal region; it entered on the left side and exited 

on the right side.  (6T142-23 to 144-7).  Wound number five entered right 

above the victim’s knee and exited through the rear of the victim’s right thigh.  

(6T144-16 to 145-9).  Dr. Shaikh recovered a projectile from the wound.  

(6T145-4 to 9).  As a result of his examination, Dr. Shaikh concluded that the 

cause of death was multiple gunshot wounds.  (6T159-18 to 24).  He further 

concluded that the manner of death was a homicide.  (6T160-3 to 4).   

Elizabeth Police Detective Alex Gonzalez was working with his partner 

Detective Nicholas on the day of the homicide.  (2T44-19 to 23; 2T45-14 to 

20).  At 6:54 p.m., they were stopped at a red traffic signal located at Magnolia 

Avenue and Jackson Avenue, when they heard gunshots within a very close 

distance to their location, in the direction of Jackson Avenue and Bond Street.  

(2T46-1 to 3; 2T51-16 to 52-4).  They immediately proceeded in the direction 

of Bond Street and, as they turned onto Jackson Avenue, Detective Gonzalez 

observed an individual wearing a light-colored hoody darting away from the 

right side of the street, where Jackson Avenue Barbershop is located, and 

towards backyards that were located across the street from the barbershop.  

(2T52-23 to 53-9).  The person in the hoody was the only person that Detective 

Gonzalez saw running across the street.  (2T54-9 to 12).   
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In response, Detectives Gonzalez and Nicholas proceeded down Jackson 

Avenue, whereupon Detective Gonzalez’s attention was drawn to what 

appeared to be gun smoke underneath one of the lampposts closer to the 

intersection of Jackson Avenue and Bond Street.  (2T54-21 to 55-3).  

Detective Gonzalez notified police headquarters via his police radio that he 

was in pursuit of someone as a result of hearing shots fired, and then he pulled 

over his police vehicle, exited the car, and gave chase after the individual.  

(2T56-21 to 57-1; 2T58-1 to 7; 2T61-3 to 66-7).  Detective Nicholas also 

exited the vehicle, but he proceeded to the right side of Jackson Avenue, 

towards the barbershop.  (2T57-2 to 6).  Surveillance video captured the 

detectives’ arrival, the suspect Detective Gonzalez described, and  Detective 

Gonzalez’s initial pursuit.  (2T70-17 to 74-2).  Detective Gonzalez eventually 

stopped his chase and returned to the barbershop.  (2T74-4 to 76-2).   

Meanwhile, Elizabeth Police Officer John Londono, who was working in 

the community services division as a patrolman, also responded to the scene.  

(2T190-10 to 22).  As he turned left onto Magnolia Avenue, Officer Haverty, 

who was adjacent to Officer Londono’s vehicle, advised Officer Londono that 

he observed a male matching the description Detective Gonzalez provided.  

(2T191-25 to 192-6).  The officers followed the suspect down Magnolia 

Avenue and made a left.  (2T192-6 to 7).  They entered the U.S. Fried Chicken 
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parking lot and apprehended the suspect, who was later identified as 

defendant.  (2T192-7 to 193-3).  Officer Londono collected a gray hoody from 

defendant.  (2T195-6 to 12).  He also observed that defendant was wearing a 

white thermal shirt that had blood on the right side.  (2T195-16 to 21). 

 Eventually, Detective Gonzalez heard that an individual who fit the 

description that Detective Gonzalez had provided had been detained at the U.S. 

Fried Chicken restaurant.  (2T83-23 to 84-5).  Detective Gonzalez responded 

to that location.  (2T84-16 to 18).  When Detective Gonzalez arrived, he spoke 

with the officers who had detained the individual, and they presented him with 

that person.  (2T84-19 to 22).  Detective Gonzalez believed the person 

matched the physical build of the individual with the light-colored hoody.  

(2T85-18 to 24).  Detective Gonzalez was then presented with a light-colored 

gray hoody that the detained individual was holding at the time he was 

apprehended.  (2T85-24 to 86-2).   

 Detective Gonzalez then returned to the area of the barbershop and 

helped other law enforcement officers, including Detective Heller and Officer 

Melendez, canvass for evidence.  (2T86-5 to 112-4).  While canvassing, 

Detectives Gonzalez and Heller observed a discarded mask on the curbside, 

alongside a parked SUV that was located in between 427 and 431 Madison 

Avenue.  (2T89-17 to 90-6).  While Detective Gonzalez was by the SUV, 

FILED, Clerk of the Appellate Division, July 23, 2024, A-002529-22



-9- 

Officer Melendez, who also was canvassing, located a semiautomatic handgun 

near the walkway of 431 Madison Avenue.  (2T92-25 to 93-19; 2T95-6 to 14; 

3T212-10 to 213-8).  The handgun was inside a small trash can on the side of 

the home.  (2T95-17 to 96-4; 3T212-10 to 213-8).  Video surveillance footage 

depicts an individual in a light-colored hoody placing the black semi-automatic 

handgun in the small trash can.  (2T107-7 to 12).  Detective Gonzalez 

observed a red substance that appeared to be blood or paint on the handgun.  

(2T96-16 to 97-2).  Detective Gonzalez then notified his sergeant that the 

handgun was located and his sergeant advised Detective Gonzalez that the 

Crime Scene Identification Unit would respond and process the firearm.  

(2T97-10 to 16). 

 Detective Gonzalez continued to canvass for evidence and eventually re-

entered the rear yard of 427 Madison Avenue.  (2T101-12 to 21).  While 

searching that area, Detective Gonzalez attempted to look between two fences 

that abutted each other.  (2T102-3 to 13).  Detective Gonzalez lifted himself up 

and did not see any items of evidence.  (2T102-14 to 15).  However, when he 

attempted to jump down, he rolled his ankle in the yard of 427 Madison.  

(2T102-15 to 18).  He then went inside of 427 Madison to look at surveillance 

video from the home.  (2T102-21 to 103-4).   

After watching the video, Detective Gonzalez returned to the side 
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walkway of 427 Madison Avenue to inspect a storage box.  (2T107-25 to 108-

2).  Detective Gonzalez observed and located a “black with brown handle 

revolver handgun.”  (2T109-4 to 6; 2T110-23 to 111-2).  Detective Gonzalez 

then notified his sergeant that he had located a second handgun and his 

sergeant advised Detective Gonzalez that the Crime Scene Identification Unit 

would respond and process that firearm as well.  (2T109-8 to 13).  The pain 

from Detective Gonzalez’s rolled ankle became too much, so he ceased his 

search and went to the hospital.  (2T112-7 to 12).   

Union County Sherriff’s Office Sergeant Vincent Powers and Officer 

Vanessa Lang, who work in the Crime Scene Identification Unit, responded to 

the scene at approximately 7:25 p.m.  (4T46-22 to 23; 4T47-14; 4T52-21 to 

53-15).  They photographed the scene and collected physical evidence.  (4T55-

25 to 88-22).  At 431 Madison Avenue, they found a black mask and a black 

semi-automatic firearm with suspected blood, which was photographed, made 

safe, and secured.  (4T65-5 to 13; 4T66-18 to 17; 4T69-5 to 10).  They also 

recovered a gun magazine that was under the firearm.  (4T72-3 to 9).  At  

427 Madison Avenue, they found another firearm, a revolver, which was 

photographed, made safe and secured.  (4T73-23 to 74-9; 4T75-2 to 16).  

Discharged casings were also recovered.  (4T76-23 to 25).  They then returned 

to the original scene, where they photographed and documented the removal of 
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the victim’s car.  (4T88-20 to 89-3). 

Sergeant Powers and Officer Lang then went to the Elizabeth Police 

Headquarters where they photographed and document defendant, his clothes 

and his personal items.  (4T90-2 to 24).  Defendant had a white shirt with red 

stains, consistent with blood, on the lower left, and sneakers that also had a 

reddish stain on the heal, which also was consistent with blood.  (4T93-9 to 

94-5).  While photographing defendant’s person, Sergeant Powers noticed 

defendant had an injury to his right thumb and there was blood on his hand.  

(4T91-10 to 14).  A buccal swab was then taken from defendant.  (4T91-15 to 

18).  

After documenting defendant, Sergeant Powers returned to 427 Madison 

Avenue.  (4T95-12 to 16).  He watched surveillance video and then searched 

the area where the revolver was found for latent prints or ridge detail.  (4T95-

22 to 96-10).  Sergeant Powers noticed fingermarks on the top of the deck box 

that was in the area.  (4T96-19 to 21).  Sergeant Powers did not attempt to lift 

any fingerprints because the area was not conducive to fingerprint recovery, 

but he collected swabs for possible contact DNA.  (4T97-3 to 14).  Sergeant 

Powers then examined the fence and applied black fingerprint powder to the 

top of the fence.  (4T99-13 to 17).  Sergeant Powers noticed a friction ridge, 

but it was insufficient for fingerprint comparison.  (4T100-2 to 20).  As a 
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result, Sergeant Powers only collected a swab of the area for possible contact 

DNA.  (4T100-21 to 25). 

On January 23, 2020, Union County Sherriff’s Officer Tara Halpin, who 

was assigned to the Crime Scene Identifications Unit and the Bureau of 

Investigations, responded to the Union County Prosecutor’s Office garage and 

sally port with her partner, Detective Suter, to process the victim’s Honda 

Accord.  (5T68-19 to 69-2; 5T72-16 to 73-13).  Officer Halpin noticed the 

front passenger window was broken and mostly leaning inward into the vehicle 

and that there was no exterior damage of note.  (5T74-19 to 24).  Inside the 

vehicle, they recovered two discharged cartridge casings, one on the front 

driver floor and the other in the rear driver floor.  (5T81-2 to 18).  They then 

photographed the vehicle.  (5T75-3 to 8).   

After photographing the vehicle, Officer Halpin and Detective Suter 

applied black powder to surfaces to look for fingerprints.  (5T75-9 to 18).  

They were able to lift one print that was “useable” and several other 

impressions that were not usable for a fingerprint comparison.  (5T77-11 to 15; 

5T79-15 to 21).  They then swabbed areas of the vehicle for DNA.  (5T78-18 

to 21; 5T79-16 to 24).   

Four days later, on January 27, 2020, Officer Halpin and Detective 

Carew processed defendant’s Chevy Malibu for items of evidentiary value and 
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DNA latent impressions.  (5T90-5 to 18).  There were several impressions on 

the exterior of the vehicle that were conducive for fingerprint comparisons that 

were photographed and lifted.  (5T91-14 to 22).  There were other impressions 

that were not useable and were swabbed.  Ibid.  A search of the vehicle 

revealed “official State of New Jersey paperwork associated with [defendant]” 

inside the vehicle.  (5T92-20 to 24). 

On multiple occasions from February 5, 2020 through June 10, 2020, 

law enforcement officers attempted to detain co-defendant Pearson to conduct 

an investigatory detention.  (7T41-1 to 42-22).  During that time, on April 12, 

2020, co-defendant Pearson was stopped in South Carolina and provided the 

officer with a false name.  (6T7-7 to 17-13).  Eventually, he was arrested in 

July 29, 2020, in Elizabeth.  (5T202-20 to 203-12). 

At trial, the State introduced the testimony of several experts.  Union 

County Police Sergeant Matthew Schaible testified as an expert in ballistics 

and firearm identification.  (5T147-17 to 19).  He testified that both the semi-

automatic firearm and the revolver were operable.  (5T170-6 to 11).  He 

further testified that the bullet that was recovered from the hospital was fired 

from the semi-automatic handgun that was recovered.  (5T171-9 to 172-4).  He 

also testified that the two shell casings that were recovered from the victim’s 

Honda were ejected by the semi-automatic handgun.  (5T172-5 to 9).   

----
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Additionally, Sergeant Schaible testified that the three casings recovered 

from the revolver were, in fact, fired by that revolver.  (5T178-10 to 17).  He 

also found that two of the three bullets that were recovered from the victim’s 

body during autopsy, specifically, the ones recovered from Mr. Kearney’s 

chest and back, were fired from the revolver.  (5T178-18 to 179-12; 5T180-21 

to 25; 5T181-7 to 15).  Sergeant Schaible also testified that the third bullet that 

was recovered during the autopsy, the one that came from the victim’s knee, 

rendered inconclusive results, but that it could not be excluded as having come 

from the revolver.  (5T178-18 to 179-12; 5T181-1 to 6; 5T181-7 to 15). 

Amanda Margolis, an expert in the field of DNA analysis, testified for 

the State at trial.  (6T37-8 to 10).  She testified that serology was conducted on 

a black mask, white Nike sneakers, jeans from defendant, a gray Puma hooded 

sweatshirt from defendant, swabs of suspected blood from a semiautomatic 

firearm, swabs from a revolver, and swabs from the cylinder release pin from 

the revolver.  (6T52-11 to 17).  Blood was indicated on the heel area of the 

right sneaker, the right front area of the jeans that were seized from defendant, 

the right front pocket of the jeans that were seized from defendant, the right 

sleeve near the thumb hole of the sweatshirt that was seized from defendant, 

the front left chest area of the sweatshirt that was seized from defendant, and 

the swabs of suspected blood from the semi-automatic firearm.  (6T53-3 to 9).  
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Saliva was discovered on the black mask.  (6T53-14 to 17).   

The items were also tested to determine if there was comparable DNA.  

Numerous items had an insufficient amount of DNA detected for purposes of 

comparison.  (6T54-18 to 24; 6T55-12 to 25).  However, Ms. Margolis was 

able to obtain a DNA profile from the mask and determined that given the 

mixture of DNA obtained from the mask, it is approximately 45,500 times 

more likely if the DNA is a mixture of co-defendant Pearson and two unknown 

individuals than a mixture of three unknown individuals, which “provides 

strong support that [co-defendant Pearson] is a contributor to this DNA 

profile.”  (6T56-12 to 57-17).  Defendant and the victim were excluded as 

possible contributors to the mixture.  (6T57-22 to 58-3).   

Ms. Margolis also testified that she was able to obtain a single source 

DNA profile from the heel area of defendant’s sneaker.  (6T58-9 to 12).  She 

stated that, given the DNA profile obtained from this item, it was 

“approximately 26.1 quadrillion times more likely if [defendant] is the source 

of the DNA than an unknown individual[,]” which provides very strong 

support that defendant is the source of the DNA profile obtained.  (6T58-13 to 

21).  Ms. Margolis similarly testified that a single profile was obtained from 

defendant’s jeans and his sweatshirt and that given the DNA profile obtained 

from these items were, respectively, approximately 25.8 quadrillion times 
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more likely and 25.7 quadrillion times more likely if defendant was the source 

of the DNA than an unknown individual, which provides very strong support 

that defendant was the source of the DNA profile.  (6T59-5 to 61-16).   

Additionally, Ms. Margolis testified about the DNA results that were 

obtained from the semi-automatic handgun.  (6T61-17 to 20).  Specifically, she 

testified that a single DNA profile was obtained and given the DNA obtained 

from the firearm, it was approximately 25.9 quadrillion times more likely if 

defendant was the source of the DNA than an unknown individual.  (6T62-1 to 

5).  Ms. Margolis stated that his value provides very strong support that 

defendant was the source of the DNA from the semi-automatic firearm.  

(6T62-5 to 6; 6T94-1 to 10). 

Union County Prosecutor’s Office Detective Sergeant Nicholas 

Falcicchio testified as an expert in the field of cellular telephone record 

analysis.  (8T151-21 to 24).  He plotted the cellphone activity among the four 

target cellphones shortly before and after the homicide, identifying which 

towers were in use by each phone.  (8T160-4 to 15; Pa9). Detective Sergeant 

Falcicchio did not opine on the distance that any of the phones were from the 

towers that he identified, and he explicitly stated, multiple times, that the 

shaded areas of his demonstrative aid represented an antenna’s directionality 

and not radio frequency coverage.  (8T160-21 to 161-14; 8T178-6 to 25; 
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8T184-12 to 19; 8T190-25 to 191-11; 8T194-9 to 20; Pa1 to 15).   

In addition to the aforementioned evidence, the State admitted numerous 

clips of surveillance video footage from the night of the homicide and a 

compilation of relevant segments that were obtained.  (7T39-24 to 40-25; 

7T74-9 to 77-8; Da18).  The videos captured defendants before the shooting, 

the shooting itself, defendants fleeing, the search for evidence, and the 

discovery of the firearms and mask.  (Da18).   

The video also showed that a silver sedan was relevant to the 

investigation.  Specifically, a review of the video showed defendant arrive at 

the scene of the shooting in a silver vehicle that was consistent with a silver 

2017 Chevy Malibu, which is owned by Mayasha Scott, the mother of 

defendant’s children, and which she testified defendant drove on the night of 

the homicide.  (5T16-24 to 17-9; Da18).  And, co-defendant Pearson was 

stopped later that night at 9:45 p.m., in East Orange driving the Chevy Malibu.  

(4T186-4 to 188-23; 4T196-2 to 8).  Jurors were shown side-by-side photo 

comparisons of stills from the video surveillance and the reenactment of 

Mayasha Scott’s silver 2017 Chevy Malibu vehicle driving through the area of 

the shooting.  (7T195-7 to 22; 8T42-12 to 54-9). 
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LEGAL ARGUMENT 

POINT I 

DETECTIVE SERGEANT FALCICCHIO’S TESTIMONY WAS 

PROPERLY ADMITTED BY THE COURT.  (RULINGS AT 8T141-4 to 146-

15; 8T148-14 to 151-9; 8T163-25; 8T165-20) 

Defendant claims the trial court’s introduction of Detective Sergeant 

Falcicchio’s expert testimony was contrary to State v. Burney, 255 N.J. 1 

(2023).  Defendant’s claim is without merit.  Detective Sergeant Falcicchio’s 

testimony, which was based upon his training, his experience, and the records 

that he was provided, was properly admitted and did not violate the holding of 

Burney.  Indeed, Detective Sergeant Falcicchio’s demonstrative aid  and his 

testimony clearly and unequivocally explained that he could not opine how 

close a phone was to a cell phone tower, but rather could state which towers 

were used and which antenna was utilized.  Accordingly, the trial court did not 

abuse its discretion in permitting Detective Sergeant Falcicchio to testify.  

Moreover, even if the trial court’s ruling was improper, in light of the 

overwhelming evidence of defendant’s guilt, any error was harmless.  

Appellate courts generally “defer to a trial court’s evidentiary ruling 

absent an abuse of discretion.”  State v. Garcia, 245 N.J. 412, 430 (2021).  “A 

court abuses its discretion when its ‘decision is made without a rational 
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explanation, inexplicably departed from established policies, or rested on an 

impermissible basis.’”  State v. Chavies, 247 N.J. 245, 257 (2021) (quoting 

State v. R.Y., 242 N.J. 48, 65 (2020) (internal quotation omitted)). “[A] 

functional approach to abuse of discretion examines whether there are good 

reasons for an appellate court to defer to the particular decision at issue.”  

R.Y., 242 N.J. at 65 (alteration in original) (quoting Flagg v. Essex Cnty. 

Prosecutor, 171 N.J. 561, 571 (2002)). 

The proponent of expert testimony bears the burden of proof on 

admissibility.  State v. Torres, 183 N.J. 554, 567 (2005).  Expert testimony is 

admissible “[i]f scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist 

the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue.”  

State v. Gonzalez, 249 N.J. 612, 633-634 (2022).  The expert witness must 

have sufficient expertise to offer the intended testimony.  State v. B.H., 183 

N.J. 171, 194 (2005).  Additionally, “[a]s gatekeepers, trial judges  must ensure 

that expert evidence is both needed and appropriate, even if no party objects to 

the testimony.”  State v. Sowell, 213 N.J. 89, 99-100 (2013).  And witnesses 

may not base their testimony on inadmissible evidence.  See State v. Frisby, 

174 N.J. 583, 592 (2002) (finding that the defendant’s trial was tainted by a 

testifying witness’s reliance on inadmissible evidence).  
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Indeed, these requirements are set forth in N.J.R.E. 702 and N.J.R.E. 

703, which govern the admissibility of expert testimony.  Townsend v. Pierre, 

221 N.J. 36, 53 (2015). 

Expert testimony must be offered by one who is 

“qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, 
experience, training, or education” to offer a 
“scientific, technical, or . . . specialized” opinion that 
will assist the trier of fact, see N.J.R.E. 702, and the 

opinion must be based on facts or data of the type 

identified by and found acceptable under N.J.R.E. 

703. 

 

[Pomerantz Paper Corp. v. New Cmty. Corp., 207 N.J. 

344, 372 (2011) (omission in original).] 

 

 Stated differently, Rule 702 imposes three requirements for the 

admission of expert testimony: 

(1) the intended testimony must concern a subject 

matter that is beyond the ken of the average juror; (2) 

the field testified to must be at a state of the art such 

that an expert’s testimony could be sufficiently 
reliable; and (3) the witness must have sufficient 

expertise to offer the intended testimony. 

 

[State v. Derry, 250 N.J. 611, 632-33 (2022) (quoting 

Torres, 183 N.J. at 567-68).]  

 

“Those requirements are construed liberally in light of Rule 702’s tilt in favor 

of the admissibility of expert testimony.”  State v. Jenewicz, 193 N.J. 440, 454 

(2008). 
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In addition to these requirements, “a court must ensure that the proffered 

expert does not offer a mere net opinion.”  Ibid.  The net opinion rule, a 

corollary of N.J.R.E. 703, “forbids the admission into evidence of an expert’s 

conclusions that are not supported by factual evidence or other data.” 

Townsend, 221 N.J. at 53-54 (quoting Polzo v. County of Essex, 196 N.J. 569, 

583 (2008)). “The rule requires that an expert ‘give the why and wherefore’ 

that supports the opinion, ‘rather than a mere conclusion.’”  Id. 221 N.J. at 54 

(quoting Borough of Saddle River v. 66 East Allendale, LLC, 216 N.J. 115, 

144 (2013)); see also Pomerantz Paper Corp., 207 N.J. at 372. 

 In this case, Detective Sergeant Falcicchio was properly qualified as an 

expert and aptly testified which towers were utilized by the relevant cell 

phones in this case.  Detective Sergeant Falcicchio is a certified wireless 

analyst and a communications network specialist, with two certifications in 

telecommunications and two certifications in mobile forensics.  (8T115-10 to 

13).  In order to obtain those certifications, Detective Sergeant Falcicchio took 

classes on how telephones work as a network, radio fundamentals, radio 

spectrum modems and modulations, and mobility and cellular fundamentals.  

(8T125-17 to 127-11).  He also has attended the FBI’s historical cell site 

analysis training course and a course on cellular WIFI analysis.  (8T128-13 to 

25).  Additionally, he attended a course on cellular technology and mapping 

FILED, Clerk of the Appellate Division, July 23, 2024, A-002529-22



-22- 

analysis taught by a radio frequency engineer, where they discussed “mapping 

of records analysis, advanced reports, technology, statistical and link analysis 

and call detail records mapping analysis.”  (8T129-1 to 8).  He continues to 

take training in the field of analyzing cell phone data and has analyzed cell 

phone data hundreds of times.  (8T116-6 to 18).  Detective Sergeant Falcicchio 

has spent numerous hours attending these courses and obtaining these 

certifications.  Moreover, he has testified approximately seven times as an 

expert in this field.  (8T136-17 to 25).   

Before addressing the facts of this case, Detective Sergeant Falcicchio 

explained generalized concepts that apply to this field.  Specifically, he 

explained that a cell phone tower is a structure that has antennas for cell phone 

service, that it can come in varying shapes and sizes, that the coverage from 

towers overlap, and that the coverage can be affected by a variety of things, 

including a customer’s distance from the tower, any obstructions that might be 

in the way, or just a particular way that the phone company structure or 

configured that network.  (8T118-20 to 119-17).  He also testified that 

historical cell site information usually cannot provide very specific location 

data indicating that a phone was at a particular address.  (8T120-11 to 16).   

Detective Sergeant Falcicchio then explained the PowerPoint slides that 

he created to assist the jurors in understanding the cell phone records that the 
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cell phone providers produced.  (8T153-12 to 162-3; 8T164-13 to 172-23).  

Detective Sergeant Falcicchio explained that the call detail records provide the 

location of a cell phone tower, which is the physical location of the cell site.  

(8T153-21 to 154-3).  He further explained that he plotted those points on a 

map and the shaded area on his depiction only establishes the direction of the 

antenna that was being utilized by a call.  (8T154-4 to 5).  He clarified that 

“there’s no estimation of any coverage with that.  It’s simply a graphical 

representation of the direction from the antenna that that antenna faces.”  

(8T154-5 to 8).  He then reiterated that he was not “saying that that particular 

area covers any particular area to a certainty where as if you aren’t standing in 

that exact area, you wouldn’t be using that cell phone tower.”  (8T155-19 to 

22).  He also explained that the shaded area on the PowerPoint slides was not 

intended to say a particular phone was in the darker color, that it does not 

represent radio frequency coverage, and that it merely showed directionality of 

the antenna.  (8T160-18 to 161-14).   

Utilizing the information provided by the cell phone companies and his 

training and experience, Detective Sergeant Falcicchio transformed that data 

into a visual representation and plotted the information on a map.  (8T153-18 

to 154-8; Pa1 to 15).  This transformation was not a net opinion, but rather a 

recreation based on specific facts that were in evidence. 
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Indeed, there are only a few comments in the entirety of Detective 

Sergeant Falcicchio’s testimony to which defendant objects.  First, defendant 

claims it was improper for Detective Sergeant Falcicchio to state, “three of the 

devices are located in the general area of [the map] that’s been marked ‘crime 

scene.’”  (8T161-24 to 162-3).3  But, as previously stated, the data essentially 

spoke for itself: the cell phone towers that were utilized by three of the phones 

around the time of the crime were located a few blocks away from where the 

murder occurred.  Moreover, as Detective Sergeant Falcicchio then testified, 

slide nine of his PowerPoint presentation contained the locations of the cell 

towers utilizing the data provided by the cellular providers, but did not 

represent coverage.  (8T164-13 to 165-1; Pa9).  It also did not represent 

specifically where the cell phones making the calls were located.  Indeed, 

nearly all of the Detective Sergeant’s slides indicate that the graphics do not 

represent coverage area.  Thus, Detective Sergeant Falcicchio’s testimony was 

proper and defendant’s claim is without merit. 

Defendant also claims it was error for the Prosecutor to ask Detective 

Sergeant Falcicchio if there was a general range of coverage of two to three 

miles and that the Detective Sergeant’s response was likewise improper.  

                                           
3 Defense counsel objected and the court sustained the objection, but the 

answer does not appear to be stricken.   
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(8T165-14 to 19).  Defendant’s claim is without merit.  Notably, Detective 

Sergeant Falcicchio did not say “yes,” but rather responded that “[i]t depends 

on how that particular tower is configured .” (8T165-25 to 166-1).  He further 

stated, “[i]f that tower is configured to cover that distance, which would not be 

typical in an urban environment, that could be possible.”  (8T166-3 to 5).  He 

then explained that “typically, in an urban environment where there’s a need 

for a large amount of cell sites, there are large quantity of cell sites that cover 

a smaller distance.  In an area that might not be as densely populated, cell sites 

might cover further distances in miles.”  (8T166-6 to 13).  Such testimony was 

accurate and was not an opinion about the specific location of the defendants’ 

phones.  Thus, defendant’s claim is meritless. 

Defendant also claims it was improper for the Detective Sergeant to have 

opined that the last device, Ms. Scott’s phone, was not in the area of the crime 

scene and that the other three numbers were in the general area of the crime 

scene because it was a net opinion.  Defendant’s claim similarly is without 

merit.  As Detective Sergeant Falcicchio testified, his opinion was based on a 

review of the call detail records, the distance from the crime scene, and the cell 

sites that are in the area between the two locations.  (8T167-9 to 25).  These 

are specific facts and conclusions that can be replicated and, thus, the 

Detective Sergeant’s opinion was not a “net opinion.”   

FILED, Clerk of the Appellate Division, July 23, 2024, A-002529-22



-26- 

Indeed, contrary to defendant’s assertion, this case is distinguishable 

from State v. Burney, 255 N.J. 1 (2023).  In Burney, the trial court held a Frye4 

hearing to determine the admissibility of Special Agent Ajit David’s 

testimony.  Id. at 11.  At the end of the hearing, Special Agent David was 

qualified as an expert in historical cell site analysis, which he explained “is the 

use of cell phone companies’ business records to approximate where a user 

may have been at a particular time of interest.”  Ibid. 

The Supreme Court described Special Agent David’s testimony as 

follows: 

[he] testified at the Frye hearing that he obtained 

defendant's phone records from Sprint, which 

cataloged the date and time of calls and text messages, 

the cell towers and sectors that the phone used, and 

the locations of those towers.  Based on this 

information, Special Agent David created maps 

depicting the towers pinged by the defendant’s phone 
on the evening of December 25, and which sectors the 

defendant’s phone utilized.  Special Agent David 
plotted the cell towers and drew two lines -- 120-

degree pie-shaped wedges -- extending from each of 

the cell towers’ pinged sectors.  Critically, Special 

Agent David testified that each of the lines had an 

approximate length of one mile, with the space in 

between them representing his estimated coverage 

area of the cell tower's sector. 

Special Agent David opined that the towers 

likely had this one-mile range based on a “rule of 
thumb” for towers in the area.  When asked how he 

                                           
4 Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923). 
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determined the length of the two lines or “arms” that 
comprised the 120-degree coverage area for the cell 

towers, he explained: 

So . . . the length that was used for these arms 

is, again, an estimate and these are one mile, which is 

a rule of thumb for this particular technology and this 

particular frequency in this particular area. So just 

based on my training and experience, one mile is a 

good estimate of the tower range for Sprint in this 

area.  It’s also further kind of supported by the 

location of the adjacent towers.  We can infer, based 

on how the network is laid out and the fact that Sprint 

has designed this to avoid coverage gaps, that the 

tower needs to extend out to a certain distance that 

obviously doesn’t cross over other towers, but that 

provides enough overlap between adjacent sectors so 

that there’s no drops, no call drops, no dead zones in 
between.  So just using a one-mile approximation, 

which has been a good approximation in my 

experience in this area. 

 

[Id. at 11 to 12 (emphasis added)]. 

 

With this foundation, Special Agent David testified that on December 25 

at 8:02 p.m., defendant’s phone used a tower in Orange, the “Parkway Tower,” 

to receive a text message.  Id. at 12.  Using his maps, Special Agent David 

gave his opinion that the Parkway Tower’s coverage radius “would reasonably 

include the crime scene.”  Id. at 12-13.  Special Agent David acknowledged 

that the crime scene is slightly less than one mile from the Parkway Tower and 

is at the “outer boundary” of his estimated coverage area.  Id. at 13.  Special 
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Agent David also acknowledged, however, that two other cell towers were 

closer to, and within range of, the crime scene.  Ibid. 

The Supreme Court also noted that Special Agent David testified that he 

did not test the actual range of the Parkway Tower and further noted that a 

tower’s range and coverage area can be affected by many factors, including the 

height of the antenna, surrounding terrain and buildings, signal frequency, 

transmitter and phone power ratings, and antenna direction, but he did not 

offer measurements or data as to those specific factors when testifying as to his 

estimated range for the Parkway Tower.  Ibid.  Special Agent David similarly 

did not measure the actual coverage area of the Parkway Tower through either 

“drive testing” or “propagation maps.”  Ibid.   

The trial court and Appellate Division both found Special Agent David’s 

testimony to be admissible.  The Supreme Court disagreed.  The Court found 

that “Special Agent David's ‘rule of thumb’ testimony constitutes an improper 

net opinion because it was unsupported by any factual evidence or other data.”  

Id. at 25. 

Although there admittedly are similarities between Detective Sergeant 

Falcicchio’s testimony and that of Special Agent David’s testimony, they 

differ in two important respects: Detective Sergeant Falcicchio’s map did not 

depict coverage areas and the majority of his testimony did not address the cell 
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phones’ proximity to the towers.  His demonstrative exhibit , (Pa1 to Pa15), 

and his testimony clearly and explicitly set forth that the map shows the 

location of the cell sites and the directionality of the antennas, not coverage.  

Moreover, Detective Sergeant Falcicchio admitted that he could not tell how 

close a cellphone was to a particular tower and did not attempt to do so.  

Rather, the Detective Sergeant simply plotted cell towers on a map and 

acknowledged the towers, which were several blocks from the crime scene, 

were in the general area of the crime scene.  Accordingly, this case is 

distinguishable from, and does not run afoul of, Burney. 

However, even if the admission of the testimony was improper, its 

admission was harmless.  Defendant’s guilt was proven beyond a reasonable 

doubt by the overwhelming evidence that established his guilt.  Police were in 

the area at the time of the shooting and responded almost immediately to the 

location.  (2T46-1 to 3; 2T51-16 to 52-4).  Detective Gonzalez observed the 

shooter, who was a male wearing a light-colored hoody, flee from the scene 

and gave chase.  (2T64-5 to 7).  That person was the only individual the 

detective saw running to backyards and not to stores for safety. (2T52-23 to 

53-9).  And, that person, defendant, was captured that evening, holding a light -

colored sweatshirt.  (2T83-23 to 86-2). 

Moreover, almost everything defendant did that evening was captured on 
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video surveillance.  The shooting was recorded, the flight can be seen, and 

defendant’s attempt to discard the murder weapon, namely a semi-automatic 

firearm, was visible for the jury to see.  Notably, expert testimony revealed the 

semi-automatic firearm was operable and the bullet and two casings recovered 

from the victim’s Honda matched the semi-automatic firearm.  (5T170-6 to 11; 

5T171-9 to 172-4; 5T172-5 to 9).  And, expert testimony showed that 

defendant’s DNA was on that semi-automatic firearm.  (6T61-17 to 20).  

Specifically, Ms. Margolis testified that a single DNA profile was obtained 

from the semi-automatic weapon and given the DNA obtained from the 

firearm, it was approximately 25.9 quadrillion times more likely if defendant 

was the source of the DNA than an unknown individual.  (6T62-1 to 5).   

All of this evidence proved, beyond a reasonable doubt, that defendant 

was one of the shooters responsible for Mr. Kearney’s murder.  Furthermore, 

none of the aforementioned evidence depended on the cell site locations.  

Accordingly, even if the trial court abused its discretion by admitting 

Detective Sergeant Falcicchio’s testimony, any error was harmless.  

Indeed, the probative value of the testimony and any harm that defendant 

can attribute to same was minimized by defense counsels’ cross-examination.  

Counsel asked whether Detective Sergeant Falcicchio drove to the locations of 

the towers, to which the Detective Sergeant responded that he did not, but 
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looked at the locations on Google Earth for indication that they exist.  (8T175-

14 to 23).  He also testified that he could not tell if there were any physical 

obstructions to the cell towers or what the conditions of the towers were in 

2020.  (8T175-24 to 176-25).  Counsel even asked whether the slides were 

“incredibly deceiving,” to which Detective Sergeant Falcicchio disagreed and 

reiterated that he was not opining about proximity or cell site coverage, but 

rather directionality.  (8T178-6 to 179-23).  Indeed, defense counsel asked 

whether Detective Sergeant Falcicchio could state whether a cell phone was 

two blocks, twenty blocks, or two miles away, and Detective Sergeant 

Falcicchio admitted that he could not.  (8T185-11 to 22).  Thus, even if the 

admission of his testimony was improper, it was harmless.  As such, 

defendant’s conviction should be affirmed on appeal.   
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POINT II 

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY PERMITTED DETECTIVE 

GONZALEZ TO EXPLAIN WHY HE CHOSE TO PURSUE A 

PARTICULAR INDIVIDUAL, WHO WAS LATER IDENTIFIED AS 

DEFENDANT.  (Ruling at 2T56-6 to 8). 

Defendant claims the trial court abused its discretion by permitting 

Detective Gonzalez to explain why he chose to run after defendant instead of 

the other people who were running at the scene of the crime.  Specifically, 

defendant claims that Detective Gonzalez’s answer why he chased the person 

running across the street was an inappropriate lay opinion.  Defendant’s claim 

is without merit.  Indeed, defendant’s claim would effectively preclude officers 

from ever offering lay opinion testimony and would limit an officer ’s 

testimony to “fact testimony.”  That is not what N.J.R.E. 701 or State v. 

McLean, 205 N.J. 438 (2011), require.  As such, defendant’s claim must fail.  

However, even assuming the admission of Detective Gonzalez’s explanation 

for why he chose to chase “the man running across the street” was improper, 

the error was harmless.  Therefore, defendant’s conviction should be affirmed 

on appeal.   

“[A] trial court’s evidentiary rulings are entitled to deference absent a 

showing of an abuse of discretion, i.e., there has been a clear error of 
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judgment.”  State v. Nantambu, 221 N.J. 390, 402 (2015) (alteration in 

original) (quoting State v. Harris, 209 N.J. 431, 439 (2012)).  “Under that 

standard, an appellate court should not substitute its own judgment for that of 

the trial court, unless ‘the trial court’s ruling “was so wide of the mark that a 

manifest denial of justice resulted.’”” State v. Brown, 170 N.J. 138, 147 

(2001) (quoting State v. Marrero, 148 N.J. 469, 484 (1997)).  Accordingly, 

such rulings “are subject to limited appellate scrutiny,” State v. Buda, 195 N.J. 

278, (2008), as trial judges are vested “with broad discretion in making 

evidence rulings,” Harris, 209 N.J. at 439 (quoting State v. Muhammad, 359 

N.J. Super. 361, 388 (App. Div. 2003)). 

There are two forms of testimony: “fact testimony” and “opinion 

testimony.”  “Fact testimony” is a description of what an individual perceives 

through his or her senses.  See State v. McLean, 205 N.J. 438, 460 (2011). 

Fact testimony has always consisted of a description 

of what the officer did and saw, including, for 

example, that defendant stood on a corner, engaged in 

a brief conversation, looked around, reached into a 

bag, handed another person an item, accepted paper 

currency in exchange, threw the bag aside as the 

officer approached, and that the officer found drugs in 

the bag.  Testimony of that type includes no opinion, 

lay or expert, and does not convey information about 

what the officer “believed,” “thought” or “suspected,”  
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but instead is an ordinary fact-based recitation by a 

witness with first-hand knowledge. 

 

[Ibid.] 

 

Alternatively, testimony that contains an “opinion” or “belief” is “opinion 

testimony.”  A lay witness’s opinion testimony is governed by N.J.R.E. 701, 

which provides: 

If a witness is not testifying as an expert, the witness’ 
testimony in the form of opinions or inferences may 

be admitted if it: 

 

(a) is rationally based on the witness’ perception; and 

 

(b) will assist in understanding the witness’ testimony 

or determining a fact in issue. 

 

“The purpose of N.J.R.E. 701 is to ensure that lay opinion is based on an 

adequate foundation.”  Neno v. Clinton, 167 N.J. 573, 585 (2001).  See also 

State v. Bealor, 187 N.J. 574, 586 (2006).  Lay opinion testimony only can be 

admitted “if it falls within the narrow bounds of testimony that is based on the 

perception of the witness and that will assist the jury in performing its 

function.”  State v. McLean, 205 N.J. 438, 456 (2011). 

The first prong of N.J.R.E. 701 requires the witness’s opinion testimony 

to be based on the witness’s “perception,” which rests on the acquisition of 

knowledge through use of one’s sense of touch, taste, sight, smell or hearing.” 

McLean. 205 N.J. at 457.  “[U]nlike expert opinions, lay opinion testimony is 
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limited to what was directly perceived by the witness and may not rest on 

otherwise inadmissible hearsay.”  McLean. 205 N.J. at 460.  Although based 

on what a witness perceived, it is not limited simply to what was observed, but 

includes an opinion.  See State v. LaBrutto, 114 N.J. 187, 191 (1989) (An 

officer’s lay opinion about the point of impact was permissible because it was 

rationally based on what he observed at the scene of the accident and it was 

helpful to the jury’s full comprehension of the facts in question.). 

The second requirement of N.J.R.E. 701 is that lay-witness opinion 

testimony be “limited to testimony that will assist the trier of fact either by 

helping to explain the witness’s testimony or by shedding light on the 

determination of a disputed factual issue.”  McLean, 205 N.J. at 458. 

The seminal case addressing these concepts is State v. McLean, 205 N.J. 

438, 456 (2011).  In McLean, a police officer conducting a surveillance 

operation witnessed two transactions.  Id. 205 N.J. at 443. Each time, the 

defendant was approached by a second individual, left, went to a car, and 

returned within a brief period of time.  Id. 205 N.J. at 443-44.  The defendant 

handed some small items to the second person, and that second person then 

handed defendant what appeared to be money.  Ibid.  At trial, the officer 

testified as to what he saw during the surveillance, identified defendant by 

name, and stated he saw “hand-to-hand drug transactions.”  Id. 205 N.J. at 445. 
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The Court concluded that the officer’s testimony in McLean went 

beyond the bounds of acceptable fact testimony and was improper as lay 

opinion testimony.  In reaching its conclusion, the McLean Court stated: 

In this appeal, the State suggests, and the appellate 

panel agreed, that there is a category of testimony that 

lies between those two spheres, governed by the lay 

opinion rule, that authorizes a police officer, after 

giving a factual recitation, to testify about a belief that 

the transaction he or she saw was a narcotics sale.  We 

do not agree.  Were we to adopt that approach, we 

would be transforming testimony about an individual’s 

observation of a series of events, the significance of 

which we have previously held does not fall outside 

the ken of the jury, see Nesbitt, supra, 185 N.J. at 514-

15, 888 A.2d 472, into an opportunity for police 

officers to offer opinions on defendants’ guilt.  To 

permit the lay opinion rule to operate in that fashion 

would be to authorize every arresting officer to opine 

on guilt in every case. 

 

Our decisions describing the permitted realm of expert 

testimony in narcotics prosecutions are careful to 

caution that experts may not intrude on the province 

of the jury by offering, in the guise of opinions, views 

on the meaning of facts that the jury is fully able to 

sort out without expert assistance and that expert 

opinions may not be used to express a view on the 

ultimate question of guilt or innocence. See Reeds, 

supra, 197 N.J. at 300, 962 A.2d 1087; Odom, supra, 

116 N.J. at 80, 560 A.2d 1198. Applying those clear 

rules to the testimony in this matter, we cannot escape 

the conclusion that were we to authorize the testimony  
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challenged in this appeal, we would allow, as a lay 

opinion, testimony that we have found is otherwise 

impermissible. 

 

[State v. McLean, 205 N.J. 438, 461 (2011)]. 

 

Ultimately, the McLean Court found that the officer’s testimony was not “fact 

testimony” and to the extent that it was “lay testimony” it was improper “both 

because it was an expression of a belief in defendant’s guilt and because it 

presumed to give an opinion on matters that were not beyond the 

understanding of the jury.”  Id. 205 N.J. at 463 (emphasis added). 

Applying these principles here, it is clear that defendant’s claim is 

without merit.  Defendant claims the following testimony was improper: 

Q  And how many people did you see running 

across the street at that point? 

A  At that point, I only observed one person 

running across the street. 

Q  Now, what if anything did you do at that point? 

A  So -- 

Q  I’m going to put this down. It will be more 

comfortable for you to face this way. 

A  I appreciate it. 

Q  This way you talk to the jury instead of over 

your shoulder.   

So what if anything did you do?  

A  So having observed the individual running away 

from the direction of the barbershop through the 

yards, we proceeded down the block, down 

Jackson Avenue, where then my attention was 

drawn to what appeared to be gun smoke -- a 

plume of gun smoke underneath one of the 

lampposts closer to the intersection of Jackson 
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and Bond. 

Q  Now, was there something about the fact that he 

was running into yards that was different from 

what other people were doing? 

A  Yes. 

Q  Why did you focus on this person? 

A  The reason I focused on the individual running 

across the street through the yards was due to 

the fact that having just heard shots being fired 

and being familiar with the area and knowing 

that there were two businesses that were open, 

well-lit businesses, I find it suspicious that 

someone would choose to run through rear yards 

as opposed to seeking shelter, whether it’s 

inside the businesses or the house. 

 

[…] 
 

Q  So your attention was drawn to this individual.   

Now, what did you do at that point? 

A  At that point I continued my way directly to the 

area where I observed the individual running 

towards the yard and I pulled my police vehicle 

over to the side of the road closest to that yard, 

at which point I exited my vehicle and gave 

chase after the individual.   

 

[2T54-9 to 57-1 (emphasis added)]. 

 

Contrary to defendant’s claim, Detective Gonzalez’s testimony that he 

focused on the man running across the street because he thought the man’s 

actions were “suspicious” did not exceed the bounds of permissible lay 

opinions.  The testimony was rationally based on Detective Gonzalez’s 

perception and served to inform the jury why he chose to pursue that specific 
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individual.  The testimony consisted of what he saw, what he did during his 

investigation, and why he took those steps. Moreover, the testimony was the 

“product of reasoning processes” familiar to the jury, as they were later able to 

view the videos, which corroborated what Detective Gonzalez stated occurred.  

Detective Gonzalez’s testimony was not offered to provide an opinion on 

defendant’s guilt, but to explain why Detective Gonzalez followed that 

specific individual as part of his investigation.  Accordingly, it was properly 

admitted in accordance with N.J.R.E. 701 and it did not offend McLean. 

Indeed, defendant’s reliance upon and reference to McLean, State v. 

Derry, 250 N.J. 611 (2022), State v. Simms, 224 N.J. 393 (2016), State v. 

Hyman, 451 N.J. Super. 429 (App. Div. 2017), and State v. Smith, 436 N.J. 

Super. 556 (App. Div. 2014), is misplaced.  Each of these cases is 

distinguishable from the present matter.  In McLean, Simms, and Smith, the 

court held the officer provided an inappropriate lay opinion because the 

officers’ testimony amounted to an expert opinion interpreting facts for the 

jury that directly bore on defendant’s guilt.  McLean, 205 N.J. at 463; Simms, 

224 N.J. at 399-400, 403-04; Smith, 436 N.J. Super. at 575-76.  Unlike those 

cases, Detective Gonzalez’s testimony in this case did not bear on the ultimate 

issue, but rather merely explained why he followed the person he chose to 

chase.   
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Similarly, the testimony at issue is distinguishable from the issue that 

arose in Derry and Hyman.  In both of those cases, the Court ruled that it was 

improper for a law enforcement officer to offer a lay opinion interpreting slang 

unless he participated in the conversations at issue.  Derry, 250 N.J. at 623, 

635-36; Hyman, 451 N.J. Super. at 449.  The interpretation was particularly 

prejudicial because it gave meaning to terms that bore directly on each 

defendant’s guilt.  Detective Gonzalez’s does not suffer from the same 

infirmity.  Detective Gonzalez was testifying about his own actions and why 

he engaged in the behavior that he did.  His testimony explaining why he 

chased a particular individual did not indicate, on its face, that defendant was 

guilty.  It also did not address the ultimate issue of fact.  Accordingly, the 

rulings in Derry and Hyman do not require this Court to find that Detective 

Gonzalez’s testimony was improper.   

 Finally, even assuming the detective’s comment was improper, any error 

was harmless because it was not capable of producing an unjust result.  

Foremost, the comment at issue did not go to the ultimate issue of fact.  

Detective Gonzalez did not state that he thought defendant was the murderer, 

or even that he thought defendant was the shooter.  The comment did not even 

reference defendant, but rather related to the man running across the street.  

Although the State eventually proved beyond a reasonable doubt that that man 
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was defendant and that he was the shooter, it was not because of this comment, 

but rather the overwhelming proof that was introduced at trial.  See POINT I, 

supra. 

Additionally, this comment did not undermine defendant’s ability to 

claim the State failed to prove he was the man in the light-colored hoody or 

assert that the officers misidentified the shooter that night and then framed 

defendant to justify their actions.  Indeed, Detective Gonzalez’s testimony that 

he focused on the man running across the street furthered defendant’s theory of 

the case: that Detective Gonzalez chose him from the outset, even before the 

State had other proofs, without any reason.  Thus, if this comment had any 

potential for prejudice, it was minimal.   

Simply stated, between the overwhelming proof of defendant’s guilt and 

the minimal, if any, prejudice that could be produced by the fleeting comment, 

it is clear that the comment was not capable of producing an unjust result.  

Accordingly, defendant’s conviction should be affirmed.    
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POINT III 

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY INFORMING THE JURY 

THAT HE OVERRULED DEFENDANT’S OBJECTION (Not Raised Below).  

For the first time on appeal, defendant claims the trial court deprived 

him of a fair trial by informing the jury that the court overruled defendants’ 

objection to the admission of the recreation evidence and the “Court has 

determined that it is properly admissible and it is admitted into evidence.  It is 

appropriate for the jury to view the photos.”  (8T46-19 to 23).  Because 

defendant did not object below, this Court should not consider this claim.  

However, even if this Court does consider defendant’s assert ion, it should be 

denied because it is without merit.  The trial court’s statement did not infringe 

upon the jury’s fact-finding authority and, thus, it was not improper.  

However, even assuming the court’s comment was inappropriate, it was 

harmless and, therefore, defendant’s conviction should be affirmed on appeal.   

It is a well-settled principle that . . . appellate courts 

will decline to consider questions or issues not 

properly presented to the trial court when an 

opportunity for such a presentation is available 

“unless the questions so raised on appeal go to the 

jurisdiction of the trial court or concern matters of 

great public interest.” 

 

[Nieder v. Royal Indem. Ins. Co., 62 N.J. 229, 234 

(1973) (quoting Reynolds Offset Co. v. Summer, 58 

N.J. Super. 542, 548 (App. Div. 1959)).] 
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Here, where defendant did not object to this instruction below, this Court 

should decline to consider the issue on appeal.  However, if this Court 

nevertheless chooses to consider defendant’s claim, it should be rejected 

because it does not amount to plain error.  See R. 2:10-2.  Under that standard, 

an appellate court can reverse only if it finds that the error was “clearly 

capable of producing an unjust result.”  Ibid.; State v. Cole, 229 N.J. 430, 458 

(2017).  Here, the alleged error does not have that capacity and, thus, 

defendant’s conviction should be affirmed on appeal.   

Although the State recognizes that N.J.R.E. 104(c) explicitly precludes a 

trial court from informing the jury that it conducted a hearing outside of their 

presence and that the Court found a defendant’s statement was admissible, the 

Rule does not provide guidance regarding other evidence.  Nevertheless, in 

State v. Ridout, 299 N.J. Super. 233, 238-40 (App. Div. 1997), this Court 

appears to have expanded N.J.R.E. 104(c)’s preclusion to other circumstances 

where a trial judge must make a preliminary finding of admissibility.  In those 

circumstances, a trial court “cannot tell the jury anything that would preempt 

its fact-finding function.”  Because the instruction here merely advised the jury 

that the recreation was admissible and not why the court reached that 

conclusion, the commentary did not run afoul of Ridout.  Therefore, 

defendant’s claim of error is without merit.   
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 Indeed, the instruction here is completely distinguishable from the 

offending commentary of Ridout.  In Ridout, the critical issue in the case was 

identification.  Ridout, 299 N.J. Super. at 234.  Both the victim and the 

doorman identified the defendant in a pretrial photographic area but were 

unable to make an in-court identification.  Ibid.  Accordingly, the out-of-court 

identifications made by each witness constituted the primary evidence against 

the defendant.  Ibid.  Following an evidential hearing, the judge found that the 

two out-of-court identifications met the conditions for admissibility stated by 

the rule.  Id. at 235.  However, the trial court then made the fatal error of 

“telling the jury what his finding was, namely, that he had determined that the 

out-of-court identification procedure was not suggestive and that the 

conditions of fairness and reliability had been met.”  Ibid.  The court reiterated 

its findings at the close of the State’s case and in its general instruction at the 

end of the case.  Id. at 237-38.   

The Appellate Division reversed the defendant’s conviction.  The Court 

did not take issue with the hearing or fault the trial court’s conclusion that the 

photographs were not suggestive.  Id. at 238-39.  However, the court in Ridout 

stated, “[t]he problem is in his having told the jury that he had determined that 

the conditions of admissibility had been met and that he had thus specifically 

determined that the identifications were not only not suggestive but also had 
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met the reliable and trustworthy conditions stated by the rule.”  Id. at 239.  The 

court found this was a problem because the judge’s comments preempted the 

jury’s fact-finding function.  Ibid.  The court further noted that  

while the judge here may have obliquely suggested to 

the jury that they were the final arbiters of the facts, 

we are persuaded that the jury must necessarily have 

been influenced in its weight and credibility 

determinations by the judge assuring it he had already 

found the identifications to be reliable and 

trustworthy--precisely the determinations the jury had 

to make. The defendant was, consequently, deprived 

of her right to have the jury make unfettered and 

undirected critical findings of fact. 

 

[Ibid.] 

 

The concerns expressed in Ridout are not present in this case.  Indeed, 

the trial court’s comment did not explain why it deemed the recreation was 

admissible.  More importantly, the comment did not infringe upon the jury’s 

fact-finding function.  The trial court did not advise the jurors that the images 

were sufficiently reliable or trustworthy and it did not tell the jurors that i t 

found the image of the car in the recreation was sufficiently similar to the 

image of the car from the video surveillance footage to be probative.  Rather, 

the trial court simply informed the jurors that there was an objection, the court 

overruled the objection, and it found the video was admissible and could be 

presented.  Accordingly, it did not violate N.J.R.E. 104 or Ridout.  
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Finally, even assuming the detective’s comment was improper, any error 

was harmless because it was not capable of producing an unjust result.  As 

argued in POINT I, supra, there was overwhelming proof of defendant’s guilt.  

Unlike Ridout, where the out-of-court identifications were the primary pieces 

of evidence against the defendant, here, the recreation was merely a small 

piece of a much larger pie of evidence against defendant.  The comment, 

which did not infringe on the juror’s fact-finding function, did not have the 

capacity to change the jury’s evaluation of the evidence, let alone, their finding 

of guilt.  Moreover, counsel’s failure to object suggests that defense counsel 

did not believe the remarks were prejudicial at the time they were made.  State 

v. Frost, 158 N.J. 76, 82-84 (1999).  Accordingly, even if this Court finds the 

trial court’s comments were improper, they do not amount to plain error and, 

thus, defendant’s conviction should be affirmed on appeal. 
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POINT IV 

DEFENDANT WAS FOUND GUILTY AFTER A TRIAL.  (13T) 

Defendant claimed the record failed to establish that he was found guilty 

of second-degree certain person not to have a weapon, in violation of N.J.S.A. 

2C:39-7(b)(1).  After defendant filed his brief, the afternoon session of the 

February 1, 2023 proceeding, which contained the certain persons trial, was 

obtained and defendant withdrew this point.  Accordingly, his certain persons 

conviction and sentence should be affirmed on appeal. 

POINT V 

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SENTENCED DEFENDANT.  

(11T18-1 to 27-22; Da7 to 9). 

Defendant claims the sixty-year sentence that was imposed for his 

murder conviction is manifestly excessive.  Defendant’s claim is without 

merit.  The trial court aptly considered the aggravating and mitigating factors, 

and after properly finding and weighing same, imposed a sixty-year term of 

imprisonment.  Moreover, the trial court properly considered the overall 

fairness of the sentence, which does not shock the judicial conscious.  

Accordingly, defendant’s sentence should be affirmed on appeal.  

“Appellate courts review sentencing determinations in accordance with a 

deferential standard.”  State v. Fuentes, 217 N.J. 57, 70 (2014).  The reviewing 
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court must not substitute its judgment for that of the sentencing court.  State v. 

O’Donnell, 117 N.J. 210, 215 (1989).   

The sentence must be affirmed unless: 

(1) the sentencing guidelines were violated; (2) the 

aggravating and mitigating factors found by the 

sentencing court were not based upon competent and 

credible evidence in the record; or (3) “the application 
of the guidelines to the facts of [the] case makes  

the sentence clearly unreasonable so as to shock the 

judicial conscience.”  
 

[Fuentes, 217 N.J. at 70 (quoting State v. Roth, 95 

N.J. 334, 364-65 (1984))].  

 

 Additionally, trial courts may impose consecutive sentences after 

considering the Yarbough5 factors and stating the reasons for imposing 

consecutives sentences.  State v. Torres, 246 N.J. 246 (2021); State v. Cuff, 

239 N.J. 321, 347-52 (2019).  Those reasons also must address the overall 

fairness of the sentence.  Id. at 267-68.  Ultimately, an appellate court may not 

modify a defendant’s sentence unless it is convinced that the sentencing judge 

was clearly mistaken.  State v. Johnson, 118 N.J. 10, 15 (1990); State v. 

Jabbour, 118 N.J. 1, 6 (1990).   

 Defendant does not challenge the court’s finding of aggravating factors 

or mitigating factors.  Rather, he claims the court failed to conduct a real 

                                           
5 State v. Yarbough, 100 N.J. 627 (1985). 
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“Torres/Cuff” analysis.  Defendant’s claim is belied by the record.  Foremost, 

the court did not impose consecutive sentences.  Accordingly, the concerns of 

Torres are not implicated.   

Furthermore, the trial court explicitly acknowledged Torres in crafting a 

sentence.  (11T24-13 to 19).  Specifically, the trial court commented upon how 

a heavy sentence on an older defendant, such as defendant, can in essence be a 

life sentence, compared to such a sentence on a younger defendant.  (11T24-20 

to 25-6).  The trial court then stated that it nevertheless found it was 

appropriate to go “considerably above” to the very top end of the sentence, that 

it “could go to life,” but that it would not.  (11T25-7 to 13).  Thus, although 

defendant may disagree with the court’s findings, the record clearly belies his 

assertion that the trial court failed to consider the overall fairness of the 

sentence. 

Indeed, the record establishes that the trial court aptly considered the 

aggravating and mitigating factors and properly found and weighed same.  The 

court then considered the permissible range, and aptly imposed a sixty-year 

term of imprisonment.  This sentence does not shock the judicial conscious and 

was not an abuse of discretion.  Accordingly, defendant’s sentence should be 

affirmed on appeal. 
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CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that 

defendant’s conviction and sentence be affirmed.   

Respectfully submitted,  

 

WILLIAM A. DANIEL 

Prosecutor of Union County 

 

s/ Milton S. Leibowitz 
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